CITY OF HATTIESBURG, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLANT

COA

No. 2008-CA-01134 T

versus

J. W. McARTHUR and KENNEY PROPERTIES, INC.

APPELLEES

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. Whether the Circuit Court Judge erred in applying the wrong standard of review by conducting a trial *de novo* and rendering a decision which improperly substituted its opinion for the proper legislative decision of the Hattiesburg City Council?
- II Whether the decision of the City Council of Hattiesburg, Mississippi was fairly debatable with respect to denying the zoning request of the Appellees?
- III. Whether McArthur/Kenney met their burden of proof in showing a substantial change in the character of the neighborhood surrounding the subject property had occurred, and that it was supported by substantial evidence sufficient to negate the rezoning issue being fairly debatable?
- IV. Whether public need was proven by McArthur/Kenney by clear and convincing evidence sufficient to negate the rezoning issue being fairly debatable?
 - V. Whether rezoning the subject property was spot zoning, thereby invalidating the zoning change made by the Forrest County Circuit Court.?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

McArthur/Kenney filed an Application Request for Re-Zoning with the City of Hattiesburg on May 16, 2007 requesting that a 29.63-acre parcel of land on the west side of Beverly Hills Road in Hattiesburg, Mississippi be rezoned from R-1B, single-family residential, to R-4, high density residential. The project to be constructed on the subject property is "a luxury student housing project." As a matter of course for such projects, it was reviewed by the Site Review Committee of the Hattiesburg Planning Department. Subsequent to this review, the application for rezoning was set for public hearing before the Hattiesburg Planning Commission on June 06, 2007. At that hearing, the application was tabled until July 05, 2007, at which time it was reconsidered. The planning commission recommended, by a 4-1 vote, that the rezoning request be approved.

Certain opponents to the McArthur/Kenney application, being aggrieved with the recommendation of the planning commission, filed an appeal of the matter with the City of Hattiesburg. The appeal was set for public hearing before the City Council of Hattiesburg on August 07, 2007. At that time, after hearing the presentation of evidence from the proponents and opponents, the city council denied the McArthur/Kenney application for rezoning by a vote of 4-0.

On August 13, 2007, McArthur/Kenney appealed the decision of the Hattiesburg City Council to the Forrest County Circuit Court. They filed at the same time their Bill of Exceptions. Forrest County Circuit Judge Robert B. Helfrich filed an Order of Recusal for

himself on August 28, 2007, requesting the Chief Justice of the Mississippi Supreme Court appoint a Special Judge to hear this appeal. Chief Justice James W. Smith filed an Order on August 29, 2007 appointing the Honorable Roger T. Clark as Special Judge to hear this appeal. McArthur/Kenney filed their brief on the lower court appeal on November 13, 2007. Seven days later, McArthur/Kenney filed a Motion to Correct or Supplement Record comprising three requests—the first two requests were innocuous enough to have, simply, been corrected at that time by agreement in writing between counsel for McArthur/Kenney and counsel for the City of Hattiesburg. The third request was more substantive and intrusive in the sense that it attempted to change the underlying record upon which this appeal is based. The importance of the latter request to change the record is magnified by a filing on December 21, 2007 of a "Supplement to Motion to Correct Record." This pleading's entire focus is on changing the underlying record of this appeal by virtue of two letters and four affidavits attached as exhibits. The City of Hattiesburg filed its brief in the lower court appeal on January 02, 2008, and McArthur/Kenney filed their reply brief on January 24, 2008..

An evidentiary hearing was held by the Forrest County Circuit Court on February 26, 2008 on the McArthur/Kenney motion and supplement to motion. The lower court denied the motion. The balance of the hearing on that date was purportedly for the purpose of "oral argument" of the parties. On April 02, 2008, McArthur/Kenney filed a Motion to Reconsider Ruling Concerning Supplementation of Record. Evidently, no ruling was made on this motion. The lower court rendered its opinion and decision on this case on June 04, 2008 by

reversing and rendering the decision of the Hattiesburg City Council thereby permitting the rezoning of the subject property to R-4, high density residential. The City of Hattiesburg filed its notice of appeal of the Forrest County Circuit Court's decision on June 25, 2008.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The following facts are relevant to issues presented for review of this court:

- 1. An Application Request for Re-Zoning with accompanying exhibits was filed by McArthur/Kenney on May 16, 2007 requesting the City Council of Hattiesburg to rezone a 29.63-acre parcel of land on the west side of Beverly Hills Road from R-1B, single family residential, to R-4, high density residential. (R. 16-210)
- 2. The McArthur/Kenney application request identifies the zoning classifications of properties adjoining or near the subject property as R-4 and R-1B to the north; R-1B, R-3 and R-1B to the south; R-1B to the east; and R-1B and R-4 to the west. (R. 018)
- 3. A summary of evidence to be presented by McArthur/Kenney. (R. 032)
- 4. A zoning map of the area around the subject property. (R. 034)
- 5. Promotional literature on Kenney Properties, Inc., which have no bearing on a substantial change in the character of the neighborhood nor on the public need for the project in the area of the subject property. (R. 038-099)

- 6. Letters of reference for the Kenney Companies which have no bearing on a substantial change in the character of the neighborhood nor on the public need for the project in the area of the subject property. (R. 100-108)
- 7. News articles on Kenney Properties which have no bearing on a substantial change in the character of the neighborhood nor on the public need for the project in the area of the subject property. (R. 110-133)
- Special Judge Roger C. Clark's Memorandum Opinion and Order in the case 8. of Foundation Development, LLC v. City of Hattiesburg, Mississippi, Civil Action No. CI05-0052, in the Circuit Court of Forrest County, Mississippi. This document is objected to for the following reasons: (1) it appears to be included it in this record for the sole purpose of trying to show that the above case is similar to, if not precisely like, the pending case on appeal; (2) it lends itself to references about expert opinions regarding substantial change in the character of the neighborhood and public need when, in fact, the providers of such opinions have not rendered opinions in the existing case; (3) it permits the drawing of purported facts from the earlier case and applying them to this case when, in reality, there are consequential differences in the facts of the two cases; and (4) it facilitates the drawing of the wrong legal conclusions about the facts in the existing case because, in fact, the wrong legal conclusions may have been drawn about the facts in the earlier case. (R. 134-145)

subject area, which desires the City of Hattiesburg to expend its funds to make street and road and lighting improvements to help ameliorate the traffic problem and, further, acknowledges that with the additional traffic generated by the proposed apartments and certain traffic improvements made there will still be streets and roads with low levels of service. (R. 182-209)

- 14. Minutes of the June 06, 2007 meeting of the Hattiesburg Planing Commission where the McArthur/Kenney zoning request was tabled. (R. 213-214)
- 15. Building inspection report for May 2007 for the City of Hattiesburg, Mississippi. (R. 212)
- 16. Petitions filed in support of the McArthur/Kenney zoning request. (R. 216-219)
- 17. Petitions filed before the Hattiesburg Planing Commission opposing the McArthur/Kenney zoning request. (R. 227-228)
- 18. A letter from Hilda D. Perrott opposing the zoning request of McArthur/Kenney. (R. 229-238)
- 19. Minutes of the July 05, 2007 meeting of the Hattiesburg Planning Commission where the McArthur/Kenney zoning request was recommended for approval (R. 239-241)
- 20. "Land Use and Zoning Trends for Properties Located in the Beverly Hills Road Area, Hattiesburg, Mississippi." (R. 248-254)
- 21. Exhibit 2 and Exhibit 3 of the report in No. 20 above. (R. 253-254)

- 22. "Beverly Hills Road, The Facts," by Hilda D. Perrott, Ph.D. (R. 255-280)
- 23. Discussion of student housing at USM and reasons why projected growth of on-campus student enrollment in McArthur/Kenney evidence is wrong. (R. 258-261)
- 24. Discussion of public need relative to on-campus student enrollment. (R. 261-263)
- 25. Opposition to the findings of the Neel-Schaffer's "Traffic Impact Analysis."
 (R. 271-272)
- **26.** Minutes of the public hearing before the Hattiesburg City Council. (R. 289-302)
- 27. Hattiesburg Planning Department "Staff Summary" on the McArthur/Kenney zoning request. (R. 304-305)
- 28. Observations of the Hattiesburg Site Plan Review Committee on the McArthur/Kenney apartment project. (R. 306-307)
- 29. Petitions filed before the Hattiesburg City Council objecting to the McArthur/Kenney zoning request. (R. 334-335, 373-389)
- 30. Minutes of the Hattiesburg City Council denying zoning request of McArthur/Kenney. (R. 390-391)
- **31.** Petition supporting McArthur/Kenney zoning request. (R. 394)
- 32. Order of Recusal for Judge Robert B. Helfrich. (R. 397)

- Order of Supreme Court Chief Justice appointing the Honorable Roger T.Clark, Special Judge, to hear this appeal. (R. 398)
- 34. Brief of McArthur/Kenney submitted to Forrest County Circuit Court. (R. 404-423)
- 35. Motion to Correct or Supplement Record. (R. 424-426)
- **36.** Supplement to Motion to Correct Record. R. 428-435)
- 37. Brief of City of Hattiesburg (R. 436-451)
- 38. Reply Brief of Appellants. (R. 454-461)
- 39. Opinion of Special Judge for the Forrest County Circuit Court (R. 468-472)
- **40.** Notice of Appeal. (R. 474-475)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The lower court erred in reversing and remanding the decision of the City Council of Hattiesburg, Mississippi to deny the rezoning request of McArthur/Kenney. The Circuit Court of Forest County, Mississippi substituted its opinion and decision for that of the legislative body that rendered its decision on issues that were fairly debatable. The evidence for the rezoning request was not sufficient to override the City Council's decision finding (1) there had not been a substantial change in the character of the neighborhood where the subject property is located, and (2) there was no public need for additional apartments in the City of Hattiesburg at that time.

Secondly, the City of Hattiesburg contends that the lower court conducted a trial de novo of the issues when it held an evidentiary hearing to modify and/or supplement the appeal record. This resulted in new evidence, both testimony and documentary, being introduced into the record.

Finally, the City of Hattiesburg contends that by granting the McArthur/Kenney rezoning request, the lower court allowed an impermissible spot zoning. The evidence clearly shows by virtue of the location of the property relative to the single-family residential zoning surrounding it, the lack of a public need at this time when 1,200 additional apartment units were under construction or approved for construction, and that the request was for the primary benefit of the zoning applicants, McArthur/Kennney.

ARGUMENTS

I. Whether the Circuit Court Judge erred in applying the wrong standard of review by conducting a trial de novo and rendering a decision which improperly substituted its opinion for the proper legislative decision of the Hattiesburg City Council?

The scope of review on the appeal of a zoning decision by a local zoning board, including that of the local legislative body is often restricted to whether the local board or governing body's decision "was arbitrary, unreasonable or illegal." There are certain states which allow appellate courts to conduct a *de novo* review of zoning decisions, allowing those courts to arrive at decisions independently of the actions of the local legislative boards. Many of these states place limitations on the *de novo* review by the appellate courts.² Some courts, as is true in Mississippi, note that the judicial inquiry should only relate to whether the city council's decision was arbitrary and capricious. *City of Jackson v. Aldridge*, 487 So.2d 1345 (Miss. 1986).

'In zoning cases on appeal the cause is not tried *de novo*, the circuit court acts as an appellate court only." *Aldridge*, at 1347, citing *Board of Supervisors of Washington County* v. *Abide Bros. Inc.*, 231 So.2d 483 (Miss. 1970). It was further noted that "[u]nder this

¹Patricia E. Salkin, American Law of Zoning, § 42.19, at page 42-176 (4th ed. 2008).

²Tyrer v. Ryan, 2003 WI 22962455 (Ark.Ct.App. 2003) (The court noted that Arkansas law does not permit a trial de novo from a city's legislative decision but does allow a de novo hearing from other city planning decisions.); SMC, Inc. v. Laudi, 44 OhioApp.2d 325, 338 N.E.2d 547 (8th Dist. 1975) (Judicial review of local zoning decisions normally does not permit de novo review, but on the issue of constitutionality of the zoning decisions, a de novo review is to be tried in the Court of Common Pleas.); Olley Valley Estates, Inc. v. Fussell, 232 Ga. 779, 208 S.E.2d 601 (1974) (Where the issue of bias and self-interest was alleged as to one of zoning commissioner's, it was proper additional court inquiry into the surrounding circumstances of the propriety of the actions of the zoning commissioner.)

limited scope of judicial review the appellate court must look at the record to determine whether the order of the city council denying the application is arbitrary, capricious and confiscatory and whether it is supported by substantial evidence." *Aldridge*, at 1347. The appellate court is not to substitute it judgment for the "wisdom and soundness of the municipality's action." *Id.* The order of the legislative body should not be set aside if its validity is fairly debatable. *Killegrew v. City of Gulfport*, 293 So.2d 21 (Miss. 1974). Courts "should not constitute themselves [as] zoning boards." *Broadacres, Inc. v. City of Hattiesburg*, 489 So.2d 501, 504 (Miss. 1986). The court in *Broadacres* noted that "the classification of property for zoning purposes is essentially a legislative rather than a judicial responsibility of the city board..." *Id.*

On February 26, 2008 the circuit court judge held an evidentiary hearing on McArthur/Kenney's Motion to Correct or Supplement Record (filed November 20, 2007), a motion, which on its face, clearly indicates a desire and/or proposal to introduce new evidence in the record which would not have been part of the record examined by the Hattiesburg City Council. (TR. 1; R. 424-425) To further compound this issue, McArthur/Kenney filed on December 21, 2007 a Supplement to Motion to Correct Record, containing six exhibits. (R. 428-429)

Even a casual review of the initial motion shows that its first two requests are so inconsequential that a mere letter from the counsels of record agreeing to the changes would have solved these requests.. (R. 424) However, the third request in the motion is a blatant attempt to introduce into the record of this proceeding testimony from city council persons

Rule 5.01 of the Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court Practice makes it clear that "... all cases appealed to circuit court shall be on the record and not a trial de novo." Mississippi case law points out the state's long-standing law noting that the bill of exceptions serves as the record on appeal. Beasley v. Neelly, 911 So.2d 603, 607 (Miss.App. 2005). It is stated further in Falco Lime, Inc., v. Mayor and Aldermen of City of Vicksburg, 836 So.2d 711, 717 (Miss. 2002), that "[b]ecause the action is an appeal, the circuit court sits only as an appellate court, and may consider no evidence outside the bill of exceptions." Our court has said that a circuit court, in its appellate role should permit "no discovery or testimony outside the bill of exceptions ... on the Board's decision" Id. It was error on the part of the circuit judge to allow a hearing on the two McArthur/Kenney pleadings because they were clear attempts to introduce into the appeal record additional testimony and documentation not originally presented before the Hattiesburg City Council at its public hearing on the matter.

An examination of the transcript of the evidentiary hearing including "oral argument," and the circuit court's opinion in this case, indicates that the lower court placed great weight upon the documents, testimony and argument of counsel of McArthur/Kenney in its opinion and order to reverse the Hattiesburg City Council's decision (R. 468-472). Further, it discounted or gave no weight to (1) the large amount of opposition to the zoning request; (2) the petitions and evidence presented by said opposition showing weaknesses and errors in the expert studies presented by McArthur/Kenney; (3) the discourse in the public hearing before the Hattiesburg City Council; (4) the knowledge of the local area of the council

Hattiesburg "just flatly objected to it and stated to the contrary "(TR. 4) It would appear that the issue in question was properly considered by the Hattiesburg City Council, thereby making it fairly debatable. Yet the lower court ignored this and held an evidentiary hearing on the matter.

During the course of this evidentiary hearing it was stated that it was important to amend the record to assist the lower court in deciding whether the zoning request should be "approved or not." (TR. 5) This hearing digressed into an unabashed attempt to modify the record upon which the circuit court was to render its decision. The lower court stated "[w]ell, as an appellate court that's what I need, what was actually said, not what was meant to be said." (TR. 7) Respectfully disagreeing with lower court, it has been noted that "[a] circuit court sitting as an appellate court reviewing a zoning matter is limited in its judicial review and may not perform a de novo review." Mayor and Board of Aldermen v. Estate of M. A. Lewis, 963 So.2d 1210, 1214 (Miss.Ct.App. 2007). As long as the issue is fairly debatable, the court is to give "deference to the zoning decision of the local governing board, as the decision is presumed to be valid. Id. By its own admission, McArthur/Kenney was attempting to amend or add to the record put before the planning commission and not the Hattiesburg City Council. (TR. 7) Clearly, this evidentiary hearing was held as an attempt to amend a record after it had already been considered by the Hattiesburg City Council, and any approval of these pleadings would result in adding to the record and bypassing the Hattiesburg City Council.

The circuit court drew upon its opinion the case of Foundation Development, LLC v. City of Hattiesburg, decided by it in November 2005. However, this case's fact pattern had considerable differences from the existing appeal. Maybe most notable among the distinctions is the fact the earlier case involved a rezoning to R-3, multifamily residential as compared to the existing case which seeks rezoning to R-4, high density multifamily residential. The lower court lauded some of the expert testimony given in the earlier case. but those same experts had not submitted evidence in the existing case. Instead, the court gave great weight to experts in the existing case who "piggy-backed" on the reports of the experts in the earlier case. It should not be presumed by an expert that a previous expert's report is correct in its assumptions, data compilations and analyses. Faults, disparities and contradictions in the experts' reports in this case and, by implication, some of those in the earlier case are discussed later in this brief. The lower court in praising the evidence of McArthur/Kenney, disposes of the evidence of the City of Hattiesburg and opponents to the zoning request with phrases such as "[t]he City has presented no evidence to refute such uncontradicted evidence of change in the record of the Appellants, "and "the public need for rezoning is clear and no evidence presented by the City refutes the evidence submitted by Appellants." (R. 471-472)

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