CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES 

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest 

in the outcome ofthis case. These representations are made in order that Justices of the Supreme 

Court and/or the Judges ofthe Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualifications or 

recusal. 

I. J.W. McArthur, 1000 Beverly Hills Road, Hattiesburg, MS, owner of the tract ofland that 
is the subject ofthis zoning appeal; 

2. Kenney Properties, Inc., 701 Exposition Place, Suite 101, Raleigh, NC, proposed purchaser 
and developer of the land in question; 

3. City of Hattiesburg, a municipal corporation;

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

This case is not the first time a developer has taken City of Hattiesburg to court over 

zoning issues on Beverly Hills Road. In 2005, in Foundation Development v. City of 

Hattiesburg, Cause No. CI05-0052, Forrest County Circuit Court, Judge Clark, also sitting in that 

case by designation, ruled that City of Hattiesburg had acted arbitrarily and capriciously in 

denying a requested zoning change at the comer of Beverly Hills Road and West 7th Street, a few 

hundred feet south of the McArthur property. (See Judge Clark's opinion at R. I, pp.134-145) In 

Foundation Development the circuit court found that the character of the neighborhood had 

changed from single family to multifamily and that there was a public need for additional student 

housing in the area in question. There are numerous similarities between Foundation 
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Development and this case. The land is on the same street. It is in the same general 

neighborhood. The opponents of the requested zoning change were the same in each instance. 

The evidence presented by the landowners in Foundation Development, which was ignored by 

the City Council in that case, is evidence of the same sort and character as the evidence Mr. 

McArthur and Kenney Properties presented in this case. 

Consistent with the requirements of Hattiesburg's land development code, Mr. McArthur and 

Kenney Properties filed a petition for re-zoning of the property from its current zoning of RIB, 

Single Family Residential, to R4, Multifamily Residential. (R. I, p.15-31) The petition was filed 

with the Hattiesburg Planning Department on May 16, 2007, and was scheduled for public hearing 

before the Hattiesburg Planning Commission on June 6. (R. II, p.241) 

In the interim the project was reviewed by the Site Plan Review Committee of the City, 

consisting of various public officials from the police department, the fire department, city engineer's 

office, building code enforcement, etc. The Site Plan Review Committee approved the site plan and 

offered extensive comments and suggestions to assist Kenney Properties in its compliance with 

various city requirements. (R. III, pp.306-308). 

The city engineer, Bennie Sellers, participated in the site plan review process and gave his 

department's approval to the proposed project and the re-zoning. He was a proponent of the 

appellees' zoning petition at the Planning Commission meeting. (R. II, p.213) 

The staff of Hattiesburg'S Planning Department studied the application for re-zoning 

carefully and ultimately gave its recommendation that the rezoning request be granted.' (R. III, 

p.305) 

'The City disputes this fact. The controversy surrounding the Planning Department 
position is discussed later in this brief. 
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On June 6 the Hattiesburg Planning Commission met to consider the request for re-zoning. 

No decision was made by the Planning Commission at the June 6 hearing, because the staff ofthe 

Planning Department had failed to deliver copies ofthe application and supporting material to the 

individual members of the Planning Commission before the meeting, and several of the members 

wanted more time to read all the information before voting. Therefore, the request was tabled to the 

next hearing. 

At the next month's hearing, July 5, the Planning Commission found that there was a public 

need for the type of apartments being proposed by the appellants and that there had been a change 

in the character of the neighborhood, two findings that coincide with the previous ruling of the court 

in Foundation Development. (R. II, p.241) 

Evidence presented by Kenney Properties at both the June 6 and July 5 hearings was 

substantial. This evidence included: 

• The petition and various attachments; (R. I, pp.16-30) 

The current official zoning map of the area of the city in question; (R. I, p.34) 

A land use map showing land usage on the West 4th Street corridor; (R. I, p.35) 

An informational packet by Kenney Properties showing the types of projects Kenney 

has built in other college towns in the Southeast; (R. I, pp. 36-134) 

A copy ofthis Court's opinion from Foundation Development; (R. I, p.134-l45) 

A letter of need by the President and Marketing Director of Kenney Real Estate 

Services summarizing their marketing research and the need for additional student 

housing in Hattiesburg; (R. I, p.146 - R. II, p.l61) 

A Hattiesburg area apartment survey that was conducted by the City Council in 

connection with the Foundation Development case two years earlier; (R. II, pp.162-
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3); the entire document is on a CD on file at the office ofthe city clerk) 

Excerpts from various news articles and other public information concerning the 

growth of University of Southern Mississippi and the need for additional housing in 

Hattiesburg and across the nation both now and into the next decade; (R. II, pp.164-

181) 

A traffic impact analysis done by Nee1-Schaffer Engineers, showing that Kenney 

Properties' project, with planned changes to the layout of Beverly Hills Road and the 

intersection at West 4th Street, would not adversely impact traffic flow and would 

actually improve traffic conditions in some areas; (R. II, pp. I 82-209) 

A report from Patricia Brantley, a land use planner at Nee1-Schaffer, describing that 

the zoning change was consistent with the overall comprehensive land use plan of the 

city and the general pattern of growth in the area. (R. II, pp.248-257) 

Kenney Properties' evidence was not challenged in any real factual sense. Various persons 

in the neighborhood spoke and expressed their disapproval to the zoning request, but offered no real 

evidence against the petition. 

The Planning Commission voted 4-1 in favor of the requested re-zoning, based in part on the 

recommendation ofthe Hattiesburg Planning Department staff. The Planning Commission found 

that (I) there was a public need for additional multifamily housing in the area, and (2) that there has 

been a material change in the neighborhood and the area surrounding the property in question. (R. 

II, p.241) These two findings are prerequisite to a zoning change, Broadacres, Inc. v. City of 

Hattiesburg, 489 So.2d SOl (Miss. 1986). 

Recommendations of the Hattiesburg Planning Commission can be appealed to the City 

Council by aggrieved persons, and three persons filed such an appeal. Charles Holt, owner of the 
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property to the south of the affected property, was one of the appellants, (R. II, p.286) and a second 

appellant was Robert Walters, (R. II, p.28?) a resident of the Highlands neighborhood, the same 

group of people who opposed the Foundation Development case in 2005 in the same circuit court. 

A third appellant was Hilda Perrott, the daughter ofthe landowner who had initially agreed to sell 

her property to Kenney Properties to be included in the apartment project. (R. II, p.285) 

The matter was heard publicly by the Hattiesburg City Council on August 6. All of the 

evidence from the Planning Commission proceedings was reintroduced before the City Council, and 

Kenney additionally submitted a letter from the Neel-Schaffer engineer who had conducted the 

traffic impact analysis (R. III, p.392), clarif'ying questions that some of the council members 

apparently had about the level of traffic service if the proposed project were constructed. 

Minutes of the City Council meeting show that City Council members were for the most part 

unconcerned with the evidence that had been introduced at the Planning Commission level. Rather, 

council members seemed more interested in pacif'ying members ofthe Highlands neighborhood who 

packed the hearing room, who made speeches, and who applauded when the City Council overruled 

the planning commission recommendation and denied the zoning request in issue. (See Minutes of 

R II, pp.289-300 and R. III, pp. 390-391) 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

The Circuit Court Correctly Ruled that there was a Lack of Evidence to Support 
the City's Denial ofthe Zoning Petition in Question, and the City Council Decision was 
thus Arbitrary and Capricious as a Matter of Law. 

Ordinarily a reviewing court should give deference to decisions of municipal governing 

bodies such as that ofthe Hattiesburg City Council in this case. 

However, an important qualification of the general rule is that a court should reverse a 

city council decision when that decision is not based upon any competent or credible evidence. 
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Lack of an evidentiary basis for a city council decision renders that decision arbitrary and 

capricious as a matter of law. See Perez v. Garden Isle Community Ass 'n, 882 So.2d 217, 219 

(Miss. 2004) and Fondren North Renaissance v. Mayor and City Council of City of Jackson, 749 

So.2d 974, 977 (Miss. 1999) 

Evidence presented by the appellees before the Planning Commission and the City 

Council included land use data, a report by an expert urban planner attesting to change in the 

character of the neighborhood, evidence that had been offered in connection with an earlier 

zoning case on a nearby parcel of property, an engineering traffic analysis, and an in-house 

marketing survey together with related information showing a public need for high-end student 

apartments in the area near University of Southern Mississippi. 

All of the evidence offered by the appellees was unchallenged and unrefuted. The sole 

opposition offered by opponents to the zoning request was in the form of speeches and political 

influence. The opponents offered no evidence and in their brief to this Court simply try to argue 

against the persuasive nature of the appellees' evidence. None of their arguments, however, 

contradict the volume of evidence presented to the Planning Commission and the City Council 

by the appellees, and the ruling of the circuit court should be affirmed and the property ordered 

rezoned to R4 Multifamily. 

ARGUMENT 

The Circuit Court Correctly Ruled that there was a Lack of Evidence to Support 
the City's Denial of the Zoning Petition in Question, and the City Council Decision was 
thus Arbitrary and Capricious as a Matter of Law. 

A. Rationale for the Circuit Court's Ruling 

The circuit court correctly stated the appropriate standard of review. The standard of 

review in zoning appeals is whether a decision of the local governing authority "was arbitrary or 
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capricious or whether it was supported by substantial evidence," citing Perez v. Garden Isle 

Community Ass 'n, 882 So.2d 217, 219 (Miss. 2004). 

The circuit court also correctly noted that applicants for rezoning, such as the appellees, 

carry the burden of establishing that either there is a mistake in the original zoning or that the 

character of the neighborhood has changed to such an extent as to justify rezoning and that a 

public need supports the request for rezoning, citing City 0/ Madison v. Shank, 793 So.2d 576, 

578 (Miss. 2000), Fondren North Renaissance v. Mayor and City Council o/City 0/ Jackson, 

749 So.2d 974, 977 (Miss. 1999), and City o/Biloxi v. Hilbert, 597 So.2d 1276, 1280 (Miss. 

1992). 

The circuit court's opinion in this case carefully analyzes the evidence that was presented 

before the City Council. Judge Clark was aware of and cited the legal authorities mentioned 

above. He was keenly aware of his earlier decision in the Foundation Development case, which 

involved property near to that owned by Mr. McArthur. He recognized that the protestors in that 

case are the same people who are protesting in this case. He knew that the same city council, 

governed by the same political considerations, had denied multifamily rezoning in that case, that 

he had ruled that the City Council decision there was arbitrary and capricious, and he knew that 

the City Council had not appealed his earlier decision. (See opinion at App. 1-5 of this brief; also 

R. IV, pp.468-472) 

The evidence in this case included evidence similar to that in Foundation Development 

and two additional significant facts. First, since Foundation Development was decided, the 

property involved in that case has actually been developed into multifamily apartments catering 

to USM students. Second, a tract ofland between Foundation Development and the McArthur 

property now contains a zero lot line, patio home planned residential development likewise 
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catering to USM students. In other words, the area in question has changed to multifamily usage 

even more now than was the case in Foundation Development. 

In addition to what had been before the court in Foundation Development, the appellees 

here presented a large volume of evidence all supporting the petition for rezoning. (R. I, p.16- R. 

II, p.257) None ofthe appellees' evidence was seriously challenged. The City Council hearing 

was very little more than a group of politicians playing to the crowd of protestors who packed the 

city hall and who presented a petition signed by 228 potentially hostile voters. (R. III, pp.373-

389) Judge Clark recognized all of these considerations in his opinion, recognized that on 

occasion courts of law have to correct politically motivated decisions by municipal governing 

bodies, and he made the right decision. His opinion itself stands as a persuasive argument for the 

position ofthe appellees in this appeal. 

The law respecting review of zoning appeals is well settled. Ordinarily great deference is 

given by a reviewing court to decisions of municipal bodies. However, in those instances, such 

as this one, where the City Council decision is wholly unsupported by any credible evidence, the 

lack of evidentiary foundation renders the zoning body's decision arbitrary and capricious, and in 

such a case it is the duty of a reviewing court to reverse the decision of the City Council. City of 

Clinton v. Conerly, 509 So.2d 877, 884 (Miss. 1987) 

The City's brieftacitly recognizes that the record contains no evidence at all refuting that 

offered by Kenney Properties and Mr. McArthur, so the City in this Court is left to simply 

criticize the quality of the appellees' evidence. First, though, the City's brief makes two curious 

arguments. 

B. The "trial de novo" Argument 

At pages 16-22 of its brief the City takes Judge Clark to task 
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for ostensibly "conducting a trial de novo," and considering extra evidence. The truth is there 

was no trial. Judge Clark held oral argument. He also conducted a hearing on the appellees' 

motion to correct the record. But there was no trial and no new evidence. (See Transcript, pp.l-

70) 

At the Planning Commission meetings the professional urban planning staff of the City 

made a recommendation that the zoning petition be granted. The fact of this positive 

recommendation, however, does not appear in the minutes of the Planning Commission, nor does 

it appear in the minutes of the City Council, and the appellees thought the fact of the positive 

recommendation was significant enough that it should be part of the record. They thus filed a 

motion to supplement the record to include the fact of the planning department's positive 

recommendation. (See motion at R. III, p.424, pp.428-435) 

The motion was, to our surprise, strenuously opposed by the City. Members of the City 

Council were subpoenaed, placed under oath, questioned, and to a man denied that the city 

planner had made any such recommendation. The city planner herself, Lisa Reid, obviously 

under fire and at odds with members of the City Council at this point, likewise denied that she 

made a recommendation in this case, and she even went so far as to deny that her department 

routinely recommends zoning petitions be accepted or denied. (Tr. 23-28) 

The appellees' attorney learned at this hearing that there was a tape recording of a part of 

the City Council meeting, and was able to have a portion of the City Council dialog transcribed 

after the hearing. The transcript proves that the city planner in fact made a positive 

recommendation and even that recommendations are made in every case, contrary to what she 

testified to at the hearing and contrary to the testimony of the Hattiesburg city officials. 

Mrs. Reid's testimony at the hearing of the motion to correct the record was this: 
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Q. And do you recall at that planning commission meeting in June 
oflast year that Blake Lewis asked you what's the staff 
recommendation? 

A. I really do not. We don't typically give recommendations, and 
I honestly do not remember that. Could have, I just don't 
remember it. (Tr. 26) 

The tape recording of the City Council meeting shows something different in a dialog 

between members of the council and Ms .Reid: 

MR. NAYLOR: Is that something we're doing now, we're 
recommending approval for certain items that come before us-

MS. REID: For all items the staff makes a recommendation. 

MR. NAYLOR: Mayor, are you aware we're doing that now, as 
well?

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